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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

CHARLESTON DIVISION 

 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,   ) CRIMINAL NO: 9:14-000054-002 

) 

vs.    )  

      ) SENTENCING MEMORANDUM AND  

MARY MOONEY     ) INCORPORATED REPLY TO  

      ) GOVERNMENT’S MOTION FOR AN  

      ) UPWARD DEPARTURE 

      ) 

 

 January 14, 2015 Mary Mooney pled guilty to a one count information charging her with 

violation of Title 42, United States Code, Section 14944(c).  

 The addendum to the Pre-Sentence Report has taken into consideration the Government’s 

objections and except as factually asserted herein correctly and accurately revised the Pre-

Sentence Report based on factors to be considered in the offense of conviction to reflect a 

guideline range of sentence of 0 to 6 months. As noted therein Ms. Mooney is eligible for 

probation. Ms. Mooney urges this court to adopt the sentencing range propounded by the Pre-

Sentence Report and sentence her to a reasonable period of probation. 

International Adoption Guides (IAG) was a South Carolina licensed, 501c3 nonprofit 

adoption agency providing domestic home studies, post placement reports and international 

adoptions in non-Hague countries. IAG had approximately 10 employees in the US and 24 in 

Ethiopia. These employees were hired in various part-time and full time jobs. IAG was first 
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licensed by S.C. DSS in 2006 and renewed its licenses as required. IAG was licensed by the 

Ethiopian Government starting in July 2, 2006 to provide intercountry adoptions.   

Ms. Mooney has asserted from the outset of this indictment in her case that the 

government was both factually and legally incorrect in its allegations regarding the adoption 

process followed by IAG. 

All of the families named in the indictment signed contracts with IAG for adoption 

services. Of the 5 families named in the indictment 4 signed contracts in 2006 and one signed 

9/25/2007 long before April 1, 2008 when the first Hague law went into effect for Convention 

Countries. Every family named in the indictment paid fees according to their contract and 

adopted a child they choose to adopt. All families had homestudies completed by social workers 

in their home state and received training about the risk involved in international adoption. Those 

who adopted special needs children received additional training about adopting an older and or 

special needs child. The homestudy documented the family was prepared for the risk and had 

financial, medical and local resources to provide for the child’s needs. 

IAG was processing adoptions legally, held all licensing required in Ethiopia, Kazakhstan 

and the U.S. to process adoptions. In Ethiopia, IAG was licensed to run an orphanage and foster 
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care center for children. IAG provided all documents requested by the US embassy so it could 

process visa applications for adopted children. Those documents were not altered or fraudulent.    

The US embassy investigated, reviewed and approved more than 300 adoptions by IAG from 

2006 to 2014. In each case the Embassy completed form I-604, Determination on Child for 

Adoption. The I-604 is an “orphan investigation” routinely completed in U.S. consulates abroad, 

to ensure that the child meets the U.S. definition of an orphan and to determine if the I600 form 

can be approved.  The I-604 investigations in Ethiopia often included field investigations and 

many times interviews with birth parents and or local authorities to verify documentation.  

IAG staff attended the US Embassy meetings and communicated directly with US 

Embassy staff about processing of adoptions. The Embassy sent emails to IAG regarding cases 

and was well aware of IAG’s humanitarian work in Ethiopia. All children placed by IAG were 

legal orphans. There has been no adjudication by any court that any child placed by IAG for 

adoption was not an orphan and not eligible for adoption according to US Government 

regulations.   

IAG started placing children from Ethiopia as early as June 2006 and continued until IAG 

was closed Feb. 2014. Upon belief, as of April 2015, none of IAG’s adoptions have been denied 

a visa for the child to enter the United States. All adoptions that were halted when IAG was 
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closed were continued by other adoption agencies and all were completed with no known issues. 

The US or Ethiopia has not requested the return of any child placed by IAG. 

It appears that Agent Perez to evaluate this case used Ethiopian and US adoption laws, 

regulations and guidelines that were not in effect at the time the adoption cases in the indictment 

were completed. He did not gather all the needed information to make an informed judgment 

about how adoptions were completed in Ethiopia during the time of the cases named in the 

indictment. All cases named in the indictment were completed on or before January 26, 2009.  

The law that applied to the Ethiopian adoptions identified in the indictment was on each adoption 

decree. Each Ethiopian adoption decree states the adoption was approved in accordance with 

Article 194/1 of the revised Family Code law no. 213/2000. This code is referred to as the 

Revised Family Code enacted July 4, 2000.  Chapter 10 Covers adoptions and can be found at    

HYPERLINK "http://www.refworld.org/pdfid/4c0ccc052.pdf" 

http://www.refworld.org/pdfid/4c0ccc052.pdf and evidence IAG-007889-007838. 

The Court’s attention is drawn to information provided by Agent Perez to the Grand Jury 

compared to the actual law or regulation that applied at the time. Perez provided the Grand Jury 

in (GJ-Exhibit 1) information that he said provided the laws covering Ethiopian adoptions. Agent 

Perez in presenting the laws that regulated Ethiopian adoptions held out that the Intercountry 

Adoption Act of 2000 (IAA) applied. The IAA Hague adoption regulations, 22 CFR 96, did not 
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apply to non-Hague Countries like Ethiopia until July 14, 2014 when the Universal Accreditation 

Act (UAA) went into force. Agent Perez does not state the actual codes or document any statutes 

relied on to evaluate IAG’s adoption practices. Universal Accreditation Act Goes into Effect on 

July 14, 2014 see  HYPERLINK "https://www.uscis.gov/unassigned/universal-accreditation-act-

goes-effect-july-14-2014" https://www.uscis.gov/unassigned/universal-accreditation-act-goes-

effect-july-14-2014  Agent Perez was given a link to the Ethiopia Revised Family Law in an 

email from Erinn Stott of the Dept. of State Children’s Issues, Sent on 5/21/2013, Subject: 

Ethiopian Code. IAG-008287.  

Trish Mayhew, DOS office of Children issues in her paper Administrative Law Review, 

Failure to Promise: The US Regulations on Intercountry Adoption Under the Hague 

Convention Vol 60, No 2, Spring 2008. page 448 “The US rules only apply to adoptions 

between two countries, which have both implemented the Convention. Adoptions by US 

citizens in non-Hague countries will not be held to the same standards, and in fact, no 

other federal regulation applies to those adoptions outside the basic provisions of the 

Immigration and Nationally Act.” 

A Way Forward Project, November 2011, by the congressional adoption coalition 

(CCAI), page 124-125 covers Ethiopia laws and guidelines:  HYPERLINK 

"http://www.law.harvard.edu/faculty/bartholet/The%20Way%20Forward%20Project%20Report.
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pdf" 

http://www.law.harvard.edu/faculty/bartholet/The%20Way%20Forward%20Project%20Report.p

df . The forward of this report is given by Susan Jacobs, Special Advisor for Children’s Issues, 

US Dept. of State 

“Formal Statutes”....”Family Code (Original and Revised): Adoptions are authorized and 

regulated by the Family Code, with the Revised Family Code specifically permitting intercountry 

adoptions (FDRE, 2000, Family Code, Art. 193). The provisions of the Code require a “decisive” 

finding that the adoption is in the best interest of the child, although this requirement seems to 

only apply to children involved in intercountry adoptions (FDRE, 2000, Family Code, Art. 

194.2), and requires evidence that the adoption must be “beneficial” to be proffered by a 

designated and authorized government entity (FDRE, 2000, Family Code, Art. 193.1) (which, 

under the Guidelines, has been identified as the Ministry of Women, Children and Youth 

Affairs—henceforth referred to as MOWCYA).....FDRE, 2000, Family Code, Art. 

187)....”Directives/guidelines”...While the Guidelines have provided much-needed practice and 

conceptual parameters, they currently have no legal authority, as they are not regulations. There 

is impetus to make them into regulations; however, some provisions in the Guidelines are not 

compatible with international standards such as the CRC and The Hague Convention...” 
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Agent Perez, page 39 of the Grand Jury states, “IAG’s foster care or other care centers 

which are not licensed orphanages”. Agent Perez did not search for or identify that IAG was in 

fact licensed to operate a foster care center and an orphanage in 2006. (Exhibit # 2). 

Agent Perez page 42 of the Grand Jury states, “children were supposed to be in 

orphanages for a specific period of time, two or three months” Agent Perez is referring to The 

Ethiopia Alternative Childcare Guidelines on Community-Based Childcare Reunification and 

Reintegration Program, Foster Care, Adoption and Institutional Care Service Federal Democratic 

Republic of Ethiopia Ministry of Women’s Affairs Addis Ababa - June, 2009. This guideline did 

not apply to any of the cases named in the indictment. It can be found at  HYPERLINK 

"http://resourcecentre.savethechildren.se/sites/default/files/documents/5359.pdf" 

http://resourcecentre.savethechildren.se/sites/default/files/documents/5359.pdfThe Guideline 

states, 

“5.7. Make sure that children admitted to a childcare institution are not given for adoption 

before, at least, two months of stay under institutional care and until all other alternatives are 

exhausted.” As referenced above, The Way Forward Project states, “Directives/guidelines”...they 

currently have no legal authority, as they are not regulations. “ 
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This guideline did not apply to any of the cases named in the indictment.  US Agencies 

closed their orphanages and turned them in to homes that only cared for children after the 

adoption was final in the Ethiopian court. This is evidenced by various websites from several US 

Adoption agencies about the change.  

A webpage blog post, “A Hole That Can’t Be Filled”, dated June 20, 2012” speaks to the 

changes. “Adoption has changed in Ethiopia. The structure of how children are cared for has 

changed. When we first adopted Noah (in 2006 and then Zoe in 2008), all foreign adoption 

agencies were required to set-up a run a children’s home to care for children they would be 

placing for adoption. This was the set up for years. This set up is changing. The Ethiopian 

Government has made a move to focus on Government orphanages and having agencies support 

Ethiopia's orphanages.” (Exhibit # 3) 

A webpage dated March 27, 2009 from US Adoption Agency, Wide Horizons for 

Children, Inc. Ethiopian Adoption Program: The Children, “Children who are available for 

adoption from Ethiopia maybe have been abandoned, relinquished for adoption by one or both 

parents or a birth relative. Children waiting for placement may have initially resided in a local 

orphanage, community care, or in the hospital of birth. Others might be living with birth family 

members. Once the child is identified for international placement they will be moved into the 

WHFC Horizon House in the capital, Addis Ababa.” 
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Agent Perez stated to the Grand Jury that IAG could not have children living in IAG’s 

“unlicensed care centers”. Government evidence IAG-DS-00213777  through 0006  and IAG-

DS-00213776 to _0009 (Exhibits # 4, # 5 and #6), and IAG’s license shows that IAG was 

licensed to run a foster care center and an orphanage in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.   

Again, Agent Perez was quoting the Ethiopia Alternative Childcare Guidelines on 

Community-Based Childcare Reunification and Reintegration Program, Foster Care, Adoption 

and Institutional Care Service Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia Ministry of Women’s 

Affairs Addis Ababa - June, 2009.  

 Evidence IAG-DS-00213777 through 0006 and IAG-DS-00213776 to _0009 

show the letters from the Ethiopian Government to approve IAG’s first request made by IAG, 

May 7, 2005, (Exhibit # 6) to the Ethiopian Government to be licensed to carry out international 

adoptions. It shows IAG’s project proposal that includes operation of a foster care center and an 

orphanage. These documents show a response to IAG’s request in a letter from the Ethiopian 

Embassy dated April 7, 2006 (Exhibit # 6), that states “We are pleased to inform you that the 

Ministry of Justice of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia has approved your 

application for registration to operate as an Non-Governmental Organization in Ethiopia” The 

letter gives instructions on how to continue the process. It also attached (Exhibits # 4 and # 5) 

“FDRE Ministry of Justice Statement of Conditions of Authorizations contract and IAG license 
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dated July 2, 2006 that states in section of the IAG contract with MOWA “1.1 To carry out inter 

country adoption.” “Section 3.8 Immediately after registration employs Medical professional, 

Baby care takers and Administrative personnel to run the activities of the Agency & inform the 

same to MOJ.” The next steps involved a contract between IAG and the Ministry of Woman’s 

Affairs.   IAG received a letter dated July 7, 2006 from Ethiopian Ministry of Justice that states, 

“Attached here with please find the certificate authorizing International Adoption Guides, Inc. 

(IAG) to operate in Ethiopia.....You are kindly advised to carry out the implementation of all 

your project activities in line with the terms referred in the statement and conditions of 

authorization.”  

The IAG license is dated July 2, 2006 and the license valid until July 1, 2009. IAG 

renewed its license in 2009 and again in 2012. IAG’s program proposal that was approved 

included operation of an orphanage in Addis Ababa and a foster Care Center in the Mekelle, 

Tigray region of Ethiopia. The Ethiopian Government approved the proposal with a letter and 

issued the license for a period of three years.  IAG then according to instructions by the Ministry 

completed an agreement with the Ministry of Women’s affairs dated July 25, 2006 and with the 

local Tigray Regional called BOLSA dated August 9, 2006. Both of these agreements were 

found in the evidence room. The BOLSA agreement states, “Article II Obligations of the 

Adoption Agency, The Agency Shall: 1. Open foster care home of its own, employee necessary 
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staffs.” (Exhibit # 7) IAG foster care home in the Tigray Region was called Family Umbrella 

Association. 

The local Kebele Social Court, before a living parent or relative could relinquish their 

child for adoption, would hold a hearing and assess if the child could be relinquished for 

adoption. This process had to be completed before the parent or relative, or in the case of an 

abandonment case,  could continue to the Court of First Instance in Addis Ababa. (Exhibit # 11) 

shows the local judicial process. The document named, “Life History of Children who are needy 

and Desperate” states, “Recommendation of the expert who conducted the case study”, Due to 

the verified fact that the biological father of the child is anonymous and the mother is destitute 

and incapable to bring up the child, thus, it is recommendable to admit the child to the Family 

Umbrella Association & seek alternative solution for the wellbeing and good upbringing of the 

child.” This document was submitted to the local Federal First Instance Court in Addis Ababa to 

complete the adoption and shows that the local Kebele Court directly placed children into the 

care of the Family Umbrella Association. Other documents (Exhibit # 8) show that another 

licensed Ethiopian orphanage would then complete the contract for adoption with the adoptive 

parents per the Revised Family Law Code Article 190. 
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The U.S. Embassy consular officers were well aware that U.S. agencies were licensed to 

care for orphaned children, while they were waiting to be adopted, which is proven by Memos 

from the U.S. Embassy as referenced below. 

IAG followed the guidelines to be licensed and operate in Ethiopia. These steps to 

become licensed and the Ethiopian laws that regulated intercountry adoption were spelled out in 

memos by the U.S.  Embassy in Ethiopia.  These memos name the Ethiopian Revised Family 

Code as the law that regulates international adoption. See below and (Exhibit #1) 

Memo dated Aug. 03, Subject: The Ethiopian Adoption Process, outlines the process and 

states, “sometimes orphans reside with a relative or member of the community until an adoptive 

family is identified or MOLSA places then elsewhere.” 

Memo R1107 Aug. 03. Subject: Ethiopian Adoptions - The Law, Part I, AND Memo 

R07137Z Aug. 03, Subject: Ethiopian Adoptions - The Law, Part II both outline the legal process 

and name the laws involved with Ethiopian adoptions,  

Memo R100944Z Mar. 06, Subject: U.S. Adoptions in Ethiopia Sharply Increase -

describes embassy personnel visits to 6 U.S. agencies care centers in March 2006 and the process 

of adoptions from Ethiopia. This memo states “the six American agencies accredited in Ethiopia 
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XXXX maintain their own facility to house orphaned children. The children reside in these 

facilities where until they are adopted”  

Memo R181038Z April 06 Subject: Post meets with Ethiopian Policy Makers-describes 

the process for US Agencies to apply and receive a license. 

Memo R090606Z Feb 07 Subject: Ethiopia Adoption Update: describes U.S. Embassy 

personnel visits to 5 U.S. agencies care homes and conducted meetings with MOWA to gain 

prospective on current conditions. 

Agent Perez was also confused about the definition of an orphan. This was and still is a 

very common misunderstanding. The U.S. Embassy in Ethiopia held meetings and phone 

conferences to explain to make sure U.S. agencies understood how children qualify as orphans 

under the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA). The October 2008 quarterly meeting held by 

the U.S. Embassy, facilitated by Scott Driskel, Consular Officer U.S. Embassy, Addis Ababa, 

Ethiopia, covered the topic of the definition of an orphan.  Mr. Driskel explained a child 

relinquished to an orphanage was considered to have “no parent”. Mr. Driskel’s  power point 

presentation to adoption agencies and instructed agencies to instruct their adoptive families, that 

when the child met the definition of an orphan to have their families check the “no parent” box 
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on item 16 of the I-600,   “Petition to Classify an Orphan as an Immediate Relative.” This power 

point presentation is in the Government evidence. 

The issues were so confusing the I-600 Petition form was changed February 15, 2015 to 

clarify the “no parent” box issue.  The new form spells out in more detail what box to check and 

why.   

Agent Perez’s documents show he interviewed several former IAG families who felt IAG 

had asked them to lie on the I-600 Petition. The issue was the old I-600 Petition, Check box 16, 

required a family to check 1 of 2 boxes. The box that IAG instructed clients to check was the box 

that said "no parents". Some IAG families were confused by checking the "no parents” box when 

they knew from the child’s social history background the child had a living parent. IAG’s 

materials gave instructions for families to check the “no parents” box.  It seems these families 

and agent Perez did not understand that a child who had a living parent could be an orphan if the 

child had been relinquished by a parent to an orphanage. 9FMA explains that a child who had 

been relinquished to an orphanage would be a child with “no parents”. 

This issue led Agent Perez to believe that IAG was guilty of visa fraud. It was a 

confusing issue such that it was noted in the USCIS 2010 Annual Report to Congress. Below is a 

quote from that report. 
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The USCIS June 2010 Annual Report to Congress “The Ombudsman encourages the 

agency to substitute the term “Non-Hague” as soon as possible for “Orphan,” where 

retaining the term Orphan adoption is likely to cause confusion. USCIS itself 

demonstrates the inconsistent usage; Its March 15, 2010 update refers initially to the 

specialized adoption team that will handle new orphan petitions as the “Orphan Unit” at 

the NBC (National Benefits Center), then subsequently as the “NBC Non-Hague 

Adoption Unit.” 

 

 An email, found in the Government evidence, dated June 8, 2012 to an IAG client from 

the US Embassy in Ethiopia, vice consular officer, states, “Paper work mistakes are fairly 

common”.  Testimony of Kelly Dempsey, July 16, 2014, before the House Subcommittee on 

Africa, addresses a January 2011 investigation by USCIS of Ethiopian Adoption Cases, “The 

review revealed that inconsistencies in the paperwork were the product of careless errors or poor 

record keeping, problems that should reasonably be expected in a developing nation.”  

 

 Our documentation of over 50 cases completed by IAG show paper work errors by the 

US Embassy and the Ethiopian Court that include but are not limited to: issuing the wrong visa, 

wrong grammar, incomplete documents and completing documents incorrectly. The fact is that 

9:14-cr-00054-DCN     Date Filed 06/03/16    Entry Number 207     Page 15 of 39



16 

paper work mistakes are common in 3rd world counties in international adoptions, including 

those documents completed by the US Embassy. 

 

Below the foreign affairs manual explains how a child is defined as an orphan. 

 

US foreign Affairs manual “9 FAM 42.21 N13.1 “Orphan” 

9 FAM 42.21 N13.6 Determining Orphan Status under INA 101(b)(1)(F) 

a. A child may be the beneficiary of an approved Form I-600, as an immediate relative 

only if he or she is an orphan as defined in INA 

101(b)(1)(F). There are two general categories of orphans: 

(1) A child who has no parents because of the death or disappearance 

of, abandonment or desertion by, or separation or loss from its 

parents; or 

(2) A child whose sole or surviving parent is unable to provide proper 

care and has, in writing, irrevocably released the child. 

9 FAM 42.21 N13.6-1 Child with No Parents 
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An orphan is a child who has no parents due to any combination of the following six 

reasons: death, disappearance, abandonment, desertion, separation, or loss. For example, if one 

parent disappeared and the second parent was legally separated from the child, the child may 

qualify as an orphan. Consular officers should note that a parent-child relationship is terminated 

by any one of these conditions; a child "separated" from a parent, for example, does not also 

have to have been "abandoned" by that parent.   

 

In each IAG case, the child or children qualified as an orphan under a.1. of 9FAM 42.2. 

Each child placed for adoption had “no parent” because the child or children had been 

relinquished to an orphanage prior to the adoption. The documents submitted to the Ethiopian 

courts by IAG and a local guardian/orphanage included a MOWA letter that would indicate why 

the child was available for adoption and if there was a living parent or relative. If there was a 

parent or relative living the judge would require that relative to show up in court to explain to the 

judge why they relinquished their child to an orphanage for the purpose of adoption. 

Agent Perez on page 32 of the Grand Jury transcripts stated, “they may make a decree 

that states that the child is being raised by that orphanage” The adoption decree is issued by the 

Ethiopian court. IAG did not alter or change these decrees. This decree did not state the children 
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were raised by the orphanage but the wording is confusing. See the 2 attached examples of 

Adoption Decrees for Child 5 and Child 6 (Exhibit # 8). Both children were adopted by one 

family but the 2 decrees are worded differently.  One child was relinquished by his mother and 

the other by an aunt and both were required to appear before the judge before the adoption was 

granted. All the children placed by IAG were orphans as defined by INS. The U.S. or any 

Ethiopian birth parent has NOT requested the return of a child or children placed by IAG. 

If IAG wanted to defraud the court or alter documents, one would assume all the decrees 

would use the same wording. Decrees are issued by the court and each judge may use their own 

template to complete documents or the wording is the choice of his assistant. These decrees both 

name the Ethiopian Revised Family Code as the law used to approve the adoption. 

IAG provided over 300 adoptions from 2006 until the agency was closed Feb. 11, 2014. 

The U.S. Embassy investigated and approves each case. The Government found 6 adoption 

decrees that used the words “petitioner is able to give in adoption some of the children raised by 

it and accordingly since the orphanage has been aware that the child (child name) would have a 

better education under the care of the adoptive parents...”.  The Government has said that IAG 

was trying to hide where the children lived. A random sample of files from the evidence room in 

Charleston on May 2, 2016 and documents provided in the evidence and developed an excel 

spread sheet. Our random sample shows 50 family court decrees all using various statements. 
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The spread sheet shows the Government's 6 documents were typical miswording not the result of 

deception by IAG.  

USCIS 9 FAM states, “9 FAM 42.21 N13.4-6 Effect of Local Laws b. Consular officers 

should rely on competent local authorities to make responsible decisions about the facts 

surrounding parental abandonment, child custody and final adoptions. (Exhibit #8) and 

documents in the Government's evidence show the judge interviewed birthparents or relatives 

and or the guardian during the adoption proceedings. These documents show when a child was 

placed for adoption by a birth parent or relative that person was required to appear in court and 

be questioned by the judge. The guardian or tutor was also required to appear in court as well as 

letters from the local community and from the Ministry of Woman’s Affairs were all submitted 

for review by the judge conducting the adoption hearing.  

The documents presented to the judge were issued by Ethiopian authorities and the 

adoption decree is issued by the Ethiopian Court. Irregularities in foreign adoption documents 

including miswordings are the norm. It is unclear whether each judge worded adoption decrees 

differently or improper translation caused the issue but there was nothing IAG was hiding about 

children IAG placed for adoption. All children were under the guardianship of the orphanage 

named on the contract for adoption per the Ethiopia Revised Family Code law no. 213/2000. 

Some children had resided in the orphanage that was also the guardian and some children were 
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placed directly by the local social affairs to IAG to provide care. Refer to the Memo’s from the 

US Embassy, Ethiopian Adoptions -The Law (parts 1 and 2). The judge receives documents from 

the IAG representative, the orphanage serving as the guardian, MOWA and any living relative. 

IAG advertised in its materials, referrals to families of children to adopt, on its website 

that IAG had its own care centers where children lived.  When IAG families went to Ethiopia to 

pick up their children the majority of  visited the IAG care center. We have many videos of IAG 

families visiting the care centers. IAG worked closely with a church in Belmont, NC  whose 

members visited the IAG care centers on humanitarian trips. In 2007 IAG had 2 college interns 

who lived at the IAG orphanage for 8 weeks. These care centers were not being hidden. U.S. 

Embassy consular officers were well aware that U.S. agencies housed children as evidenced in 

the U.S. Embassy’s own memos. 

The Government accuses IAG of having local orphanages “sign off” on adoption 

contracts and called the contracts for adoption illegal because the children lived at the IAG care 

center and not the orphanage named on the contract for adoption. The Ethiopian adoption 

process requires that the contract for adoption be signed between the adopter and the guardian of 

the child. The Ethiopian Revised Family Code 2000  Chapter 10 (page 30) covers adoption.  

HYPERLINK "http://www.refworld.org/pdfid/4c0ccc052.pdf" 

http://www.refworld.org/pdfid/4c0ccc052.pdf 
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Page 31  -  Article 190. — Parties to the Agreement. 

The agreement of adoption shall he made between the adopter and the guardian of the 

adopted child 

Article 193. — Where the Adopter is a Foreigner. 

1) Where the adopter is a foreigner, the court may not approve the adoption unless an 

authority empowered to follow the well being of children, after collecting and analyzing 

relevant information about the personal, social and economic position of the adopter, 

gives its opinion that the agreement is beneficial to the child. 

Article 192. — Government or private Orphanages. 

1) Government or private orphanages may give any child under their custody to adopters 

Page 41 -   Article 256. — Residence of the Minor. 

1) The guardian shall fix the place where the minor is to reside. 

The laws, Revised Family Code 2000, applied to all adoptions named in the indictment 

and still apply today. The Government has access to these laws, IAG-007889 thru 007938.  As 

noted in the A Forward Project above. “Directives/guidelines”...While the Guidelines have 

provided much-needed practice and conceptual parameters, they currently have no legal 
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authority, as they are not regulations.”  The Government has applied guidelines dated after all 

cases in the indictment were competed, rather than laws noted on each Ethiopian adoption 

decree. 

The US Embassy was well aware of the “signing off” process. The DOS (Department of 

State) website of Dec. 2006 and up until June 2009 the DOS website states the Ethiopian 

Adoption process in steps. Step six on the DOS Website in December 2006 states: 

“Relinquishment Requirements: The Contract of Adoption is signed between the child's 

legal guardian and the adoptive parent/s (or the agency representative acting on the 

adoptive parents’ behalf). If the legal guardian is also the agency that is processing the 

adoption, “another licensed orphanage can sign on behalf of the child”. This contract is 

the basis for the issuance of the adoption decree, which shows that the guardian or the 

orphanage has relinquished their legal rights to the adopted child. 

 

The Ethiopian 2006 Working Guidelines of Adoption services 4.3.9 "If Found beneficial 

to the wellbeing of children, Adoption Service Provider Organizations, in consultation 

with childcare Institutional/Orphanages and informing the responsible government body, 

child make prospective children for adoption stay in Transit Homes until they are adopted 

and travel to the host countries." 
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The indictment refers to a payment of 1,000 Birr, $50 US dollars that was paid to the 

orphanage named on the contract for the adoption. The orphanage was paid by IAG as 

reimbursement for necessary activities to complete the adoption, which were provided by the 

orphanage on behalf of the child, such as; providing a social summary, investigation on the case 

and attendance in court on the child’s behalf.  This was not a payment per child, but rather for 

necessary activities relating to the adoption as noted in FAM 42.21 N13.2-8.  

 

 Federal Register / Vol. 71, No. 31 / Wednesday, February 15, 2006 / Rules and 

Regulations, “The Convention and the IAA do not prohibit contributions to support family and 

child protection services in Convention countries. If the contribution is not intended to induce an 

individual to place a child for adoption, it is not inconsistent with these accreditation/approval 

standards. Therefore, we are not prohibiting a required contribution to an orphanage or State 

welfare organization in a child’s Convention country.” 

 

The Grand Jury page 38 transcripts, Assistant U. S. Attorney Jamie Schoen speaking to 

Agent Perez “Let’s go over the fraud scheme. What exactly is going on here?  As opposed to the 

proper means where ASP’s are getting children from orphanages, IAG is getting children directly 

from families, is this correct? “That’s correct.” 
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Perez is under the wrong impression that locating a child for the purpose of adoption is an 

illegal act. In 2009 at meetings with professionals providing adoption services, it was 

recommended that agencies stop the practice of going out into the field to locate children. IAG 

stopped this practice when this recommendation was made. There is still no law against paying 

fees for locating a child for adoption. 

 

According to Trish Mayhew, Chief of the Adoption Division, U.S. Department of State, 

Office of Children’s Issues, in her paper entitled Administrative Law Review, Failure to 

Promise: The U.S. Regulations on Intercountry Adoption Under the Hague Convention 

Vol 60, No 2, Spring 2008, her article covers the act of locating a child for adoption and 

what payments can be made for these services. Page 20 comments on the Uniform 

Adoption Act of 1994 (UAA). “The DHS regulations following the language of 

allowable expenses of the UAA very closely, but change advertising and similar expenses 

incurred in locating a child or minor for adoption to simply locating a child for adoption 

and living expenses of the birth mother while pregnant...” 

8 CFR § 204.304, “Improper inducement prohibited.” Section 204.304(b) elaborates on 

prohibited and permissible payments: Section “(b) Permissible payments., (1) The services of an 
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adoption service provider in connection with an adoption; (2) Expenses incurred in locating a 

child for adoption;...” 

 The Government makes accusations that IAG paid bribes to a school teacher for 

locating and giving IAG information on children. Again, the Government is under the impression 

that payment for necessary activities of locating a child for adoption are illegal.   

IAG was using the services of a teacher from a school for the deaf to help identify 

children who were in desperate need of adoption. The principal of this school, was aware of 

IAG’s visits to the school and assisted IAG to obtain social and educational information on these 

children. The Government’s evidence includes videos of IAG staff speaking to that same 

principal and teachers about children and getting information on the children. These videos were 

sent directly to adopting families. IAG was not hiding its process of placing children attending 

this school for the deaf.  

 

On January 20, 2007 the school teacher, Tsedale Gudetta from the school for the deaf, 

wrote an email to Alisa Bevins asking for help to pay for psychology books for her college 

instruction. See attached email – (Exhibit # 9). Money paid to the teacher as reimbursement for 

her services or payment for her college tuition or books and disclosed by IAG in its annual 

reports to MOWA that were found in the evidence room. 
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The placements in question, were school age children who attended schools for the deaf 

in Ethiopia. There was no benefit for IAG to place these children. Most families seeking to adopt 

wanted healthy babies, not school age children with disabilities. The teacher was paid a fee for 

her services. On one occasion Alisa Bevin’s and Jim Harding requested one family to hand carry 

$200 to the school teacher so she could purchase books to further her education. Her education 

was in a field related to her work with the children. It is the same premise as if we paid for the 

education of one of the U.S. IAG.  The agency had nothing to hide as what it did was not illegal. 

All of the emails on this subject reflect payment was for school books as well as our annual 

reporting.  The school teacher sent a college paper she was writing for her college to the agency 

to show she was working on an advanced degree. This request to take money to the school 

teacher was a one-time request. No other parents were ever requested to hand carry money to the 

school teacher. No other interviews completed by the Government show any other request for 

families to give the school teacher money while in Ethiopia.  

 

IAG disclosed all payments made in their yearly reports to MOWA. The IAG's 2007 and 2012 

"Performance Report of Jan. 2012" is evidence IAG-DS-000279283-0007 project report to 

MOWA shows money paid to orphanages. The 2007 report states, “tuition reimbursement for 

families of our staff and families of the Alpha School” This disclosure was made on the reports 

as disclosures required by MOWA.  
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Agent Perez correctly stated the 9 Foreign Affairs Manuel (9FAM) to the Grand Jury.  

 

FAM 42.21 N13.2-8 Child Buying, Fraud, Misrepresentation 

a. Orphan classification is not appropriate for cases involving clear and documented 

evidence (or an admission) of child-buying, fraud, or misrepresentation. 

b. Child-buying. 

(1) A child should not be considered an orphan if the adoptive parent(s), or a person or 

entity working on their behalf, have given or will give money or other consideration either 

directly or indirectly to the child’s natural parent(s), agent, or other individual as payment for the 

child or as an inducement to release the child. You must seriously review allegations of child-

buying, and carefully weigh the evidence available to substantiate such charges. 

(2) However, the prohibition on payments does not preclude reasonable payment for 

necessary activities. 

The school teacher was not a birthparent or guardian for any child placed by IAG. The 

fees paid were for necessary activities in processing an adoption. At no time did Agent Perez say 

or present evidence that money was given to a birth parent or guardian for the relinquishment of 

a child. Agent Perez did interview the birthmother of child #6 named in the indictment. The 
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birthmother relinquished her deaf child because she was unable to care for the handicapped 

child. The birth mother did not state she was given anything of value to relinquish her child for 

adoption nor did she request the return of her child. The fees paid for services to the school 

teacher were paid on a “per service” basis for payments reasonable for necessary activities to 

process the adoption.  

The announcements on the Department of State Website and the USCIS websites both 

indicate that neither the U.S. nor the Ethiopian Government has found any reason to reject or 

review any of the IAG, Ethiopian Adoption Cases. Neither the adoptions that were during the 

time of the indictment or those after IAG was closed have been rejected by U.S. Immigration. 

An announcement on the U.S. State Department website dated April 14, 2014 states, 

“MOWA decision on US ASP's approved to work with IAG cases in ET.  April 14, 2014 

......Ethiopia’s Ministry of Woman, Children, and Youth Affairs (MOWCYA), has placed a hold 

on the processing of adoptions by families working with the ASP (Adoption Service Provider) 

pending its investigation.  On March 31, MOWCYA agreed to allow these families to move 

forward with the assistance of a MOWCYA approved U.S. ASP that is licensed to operate in 

Ethiopia.”   HYPERLINK "https://travel.state.gov/content/adoptionsabroad/en/country-

information/alerts-and-notices/ethiopia-25.html" 

https://travel.state.gov/content/adoptionsabroad/en/country-information/alerts-and-
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notices/ethiopia-25.html.  This public statement shows that the Ethiopian Government 

investigated the U.S. claims of illegal adoptions and found nothing that would preclude the 

current IAG cases from continuing to be processed. 

 April 4, 2014 The USCIS website states “at this time, we are not aware of any facts in the 

case that could result in the return of a child to his or her birth family.”  Read the notice that 

USCIS has on their website.   HYPERLINK "http://www.uscis.gov/adoption/country-

information/notice-ethiopian-intercountry-adoptions-indictment-international-adoption-guides-

inc" http://www.uscis.gov/adoption/country-information/notice-ethiopian-intercountry-

adoptions-indictment-international-adoption-guides-inc 

 Ethiopia historically has investigated claims of fraud and inappropriate practices by 

orphanages and agencies and has closed orphanages and has banned adoption agencies or 

professionals, from placing or caring for orphaned children.  At no time did the country’s 

government sanction IAG or ban it from adoption work in Ethiopia.  Even after IAG’s U.S. staff 

were indicted in the USA, Ethiopia did not find fault with IAG cases nor did they arrest, charge 

or sanction any Ethiopian IAG staff. 

  

 In summary, this Court should adopt the PSR’s sentencing guidelines recommendation in 

its entirety as well as deny the Government’s request for an upward variance. 
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As repeatedly pointed out in the Presentence report the §1B1.3(a)(1) relevant conduct 

factors are simply not present when considering Ms. Mooney’s offense of conviction despite the 

Government’s assertion otherwise. The extensive fraudulent conduct alleged by the Government 

and shown to be inaccurate above, even if true, all preceded Ms. Mooney’s false statement on 

which her conviction is based. 

 

Ms. Mooney plead guilty to giving false statements to Council on Accreditation (COA) 

COA provides accreditation to adoption agencies to provide services in Hague Counties. As 

noted in the PCR the non-profit agency that Ms. Mooney worked for never used the accreditation 

to complete adoptions in Non-Hague Counties like Ethiopia and Kazakhstan. The documents in 

question were also signed by the Board of Directors of IAG. 

 

22 CFR § 96.76 outlines procedures governing adverse action by the accrediting entity.  

IAG was not afforded any due process or civil remedies out lined in 22 CFR 96.76.  IAG has 

never had even 1 substantiated complaint by COA, yet the Government chose to bypass available 

remedies.  COA has used 22 CFR § 96.76 many times for similar cases. See (Exhibit # 10). The 

COA reports of Hague Accreditation and Approval Substantiated Complaint and Adverse Action 

Report show 52 agencies have had substantiated complaints and 30 agencies have had multiple 

violations.  Our report shows that approximately 24% to 27% of accredited agencies that have 
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been at accredited by the COA have had one or more Substantiated complaints. Ms. Mooney’s 

false statement on which her conviction is based is similar to agencies that have been found to be 

out of compliance with 22 CFR 96.  

 

 (Exhibit # 10) gives a summary of violations of 22 CFR 96 reported by COA to the 

Department of State:  Nine substantiated violations of 96.36(a) and 96.36(b) concerning paying 

bribes and money issues such as, child buying. Seven agencies in violation of failure to meet 

standards for qualifications of staff for example, the CEO. Seventeen violations which include 

safeguarding children, trafficking and sale of children and three violations of giving money to 

induce payment for the relinquishment of a child.  These agencies were afforded due process 

according to  “§ 96.76(b), as revised, an accrediting entity must allow an accredited agency or 

approved person the opportunity to submit information refuting that an adverse action would be 

or is warranted.” 

 The Government states that clients would not have used IAG if IAG had not had COA 

accreditation. This statement is a hypothetical statement as there is no proof that the clients 

would have made a difference in their choice of an agency. This statement is contradictory to the 

evidence shown in (Exhibit # 10).  This exhibit shows that four of the adoption agencies who 

worked in Ethiopia were denied accreditation in 2008. Three of these agencies reapplied to COA 

and later received accreditation. All four of the agencies continued to work in Ethiopia and 
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complete adoptions while they were denied accreditation. A report by USCIS showing the 

number of Ethiopian cases by agency show three of the denied agencies completed about twice 

as many adoptions in Ethiopia than IAG. The report further reports that of the 25 agencies 

working in Ethiopia, four had been denied accreditation and five agencies who did not apply for 

accreditation. Therefore, if families are saying they won’t work with a non-accredited agency, 

then the larger agencies that were providing many of the adoptions for families, would have 

ceased to exist. 

 18 U.S.C. 3553(a)(2)(A) to reflect the serious of the offense: Ms. Mooney’s false 

statement on which her conviction is based does not rise to the violations of many of the 

substantiated violations by COA in their reports to the U.S. Department of State. The fact that 

IAG was not providing services in Hague Counties.  The fact that similar offenses that concerned 

Hague Counties and Non-Hague Countries have not been prosecuted should weigh in Ms. 

Mooney’s favor. 

 The conduct of Ms. Mooney is not unique to international adoption as evidence by 

(Exhibit # 10).   The arrest and felony charge to Ms. Mooney has been a shock to her fellow 

adoption workers.   22 CFR Part 96.27 establishes a substantial compliance system (SCS) 

weighting of relative importance for each accreditation standard in 22 CFR Part 96, Subpart F 

and levels of possible compliance with those standards. COA provides monitoring and oversight 

to accredited agencies and in accordance with 22 CFR Part 96.91 and 92. COA makes available a 
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report on  HYPERLINK 

"https://coa.my.salesforce.com/sfc/p/300000000aAUSKW3KgJaQWFxUBlC4qqyq7a7W9E=" 

Substantiated Complaints and Adverse Actions.  (Exhibit # 10) is a summary of the 

substantiated complaints and adverse actions by COA.     Each of these agencies could be faced 

with felony charges, yet they have all been given administrative penalties by COA ranging from 

no adverse actions to cancelation of their accreditation. This report also verifies that International 

Adoption Guides, Inc. in its five year accreditation cycle was not once found to be out of 

compliance nor had a substantiated complaint. 

 Ms. Mooney’s case stands out to be the first of its kind.  No one else has been prosecuted 

criminally for these types of misrepresentations at issue in this case.  Many other more serious 

misrepresentations, evidenced by (Exhibit # 10), have resulted in administrative penalties that are 

trivial in comparison to the charges that Ms. Mooney faces and the sentencing range that the 

Government is requesting.   

 42 USC 14944 provides options for civil enforcement section B(2) “Factors to be 

considered in imposing penalties In imposing penalties the court shall consider the gravity of the 

violation, the degree of culpability of the defendant, and any history of prior violations by the 

defendant.”  We strongly believe that congress intended administrative and civil action to be 

imposed before criminal action. We ask the court to consider these issues when sentencing Ms. 

Mooney. 
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 Ms. Mooney is 56 years old and a single mother of three children ages 26 and twins aged 

17. Ms. Mooney divorced in 2008 and her former husband died in September 2015 leaving Ms. 

Mooney the sole caretaker of her children. 

Ms. Mooney, prior to her arrest, was in excellent health other than seasonal affective 

disorder. Since her arrest she has suffered from anxiety, depression, and post-traumatic stress and 

is under regular care of a psychologist. She recently was diagnosed with thyroid issues, and is on 

medication for her thyroid and mental health disorders.  

Ms. Mooney obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Human Services in 1981 from Elon 

College, North Carolina. Throughout her career she has received numerous awards and 

accomplishments including North Carolina’s most prestigious awards, the Order of the Long 

Leaf Pine presented by the Governor of North Carolina, Certificate of Completion Hospice 

Orientation Program, Council on Accreditation Volunteer COA Hague Evaluator, and founder of 

the website  HYPERLINK "http://www.theadoptionguide.com" www.theadoptionguide.com 

which was acclaimed by Forbes Magazine as, “Best of the Web” citing her for her efforts to 

bring ethics to international adoption.  

Ms. Mooney has been gainfully employed since 1983 primarily in fields with an 

emphasis helping or serving others. The attached letters of reference (collective Exhibit # 12) are 

but a sampling of the outpouring of support for Mary. Each supporter in their own way has 
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expressed their impressions and experiences of and with Ms. Mooney over long periods of time. 

The common theme throughout is that Ms. Mooney is a giver, a supporter, a person who gives of 

herself to others and their situations. 

The true characteristics of Ms. Mooney are reflected in the many letters of support, her 

work history, and otherwise law abiding life. 

As this court is well aware the Sentencing Court is no longer bound by the Sentencing 

Guidelines and the District Court must consider all of the factors set forth in §3553(a) to guide 

its discretion at sentencing,” Peugh v. United States, 133 S. Court 2072 (2013). In fact, “a district 

court should begin all sentencing proceedings by correctly calculating the applicable Guidelines 

range.” Moreover, the court should “take into account the totality of the circumstances, including 

the extent of any variance from the Guidelines range.” Peugh, citing Gall v. United States 128 S. 

Ct. 586 (2007). The aim of the U.S. Sentencing Commission is to address “the real conduct 

underlying the crime.” Booker at 223. A Judge should not be formulaic in application of the 

guidelines, the Supreme Court instructs; the Guidelines have the potential to produce very real 

injustice when “the very formalism of the process has enhanced the [Justice] Department’s 

ability to control information flow to the judge. After all, unlike a civil litigant, criminal 

defendant has always been at an extreme disadvantage in federal court in discovering the 

9:14-cr-00054-DCN     Date Filed 06/03/16    Entry Number 207     Page 35 of 39



36 

weakness in the Department’s case, and the Guidelines only exacerbate this vast disparity. 

United States v. Green, et al. 346 F. Supp.2d 259 (2004)”. 

The Court in Green, provides a wide ranging and thoughtful criticism of the Sentencing 

Guidelines, Chief Judge Young in the District of Massachusetts noted: 

 “…the concept of ‘real offense’ sentencing as practiced under the Guidelines not 

only affects where – within the permissible range – an offender ought to be sentenced, it 

frequently adjusts that range upward considerably … the result has been the routine sentencing 

of offenders on the basis of crimes with which they have never been charged, the commission of 

which they deny without any evidence ever having been proffered against them.” (Emphasis 

added) The result, says the judge, is “fact bargaining.” Green at 269. 

The §3553 Sentencing goals embodied in the Guidelines are well-known to this Court: 

The Court shall impose a sentence sufficient but not greater than necessary to: 

 To reflect the seriousness of the offense, to promote respect for the law and to provide 

just punishment for the offense; 

To afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct; 

To protect the public from further crimes of the defendant; and  

To provide the defendant with needed educational or vocational training, medical care, or other 

correctional treatment… 

9:14-cr-00054-DCN     Date Filed 06/03/16    Entry Number 207     Page 36 of 39



37 

Mary Mooney’s worst punishment is her own sense of wrongdoing, of having let her 

family, neighbors, relatives, and friends down. Everything that has come before this in Mary’s 

life has indicated that she is a woman of good character, integrity, responsibility, and compassion 

and kindness for her fellow humans. She will never, ever place her family in such a position 

again; they mean too much to her to let them down again. The public is certainly in no danger 

from Mary Mooney.  She is a peaceable person and there have been no allegations otherwise.  

The lack of real victim loss and the absence of personal gain are powerful mitigating 

factors in the imposition of a sentence. Ms. Mooney’s otherwise law-abiding life and her family 

circumstances suggest leniency. Ms. Mooney's conduct is a single act of aberrant behavior from 

her otherwise law-abiding life. The government is well aware that Ms. Mooney did not gain 

financially.  During the grand jury hearing a juror questioned what financial gain anyone 

received? Agent Perez stated, (Grand Jury page 123), “weather they did something illegal or 

whether they did it legally, really did not gain anything financially.”  The government is well 

aware that International Adoption Guides was not required to be accredited to work in Ethiopia 

or Kazakhstan. The court transcripts of September 8, 2015 acknowledged that International 

adoption Guides did not use the accreditation and it was not needed to process non-convention 

county adoptions.   Any loss suggested by the government is purely a hypothetical loss figure. 

No evidence to the contrary was offered, no financial audits were completed to prove such and 
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the claim is false.  No client suffered actual economic harm and enjoyed gains from the adoption 

of their child.   

 For these reasons, the Defendant Mary Mooney respectfully requests Honorable Court to 

deny the Government’s assertions of relevant conduct and the resulting proposal of guidelines 

range of 51-60 months and further deny the Government’s request for upward variance. Ms. 

Mooney would like the court to note at the May 28, 2014 court hearing Ms. Mooney requested a 

speedy trial and resolution to this case. She has objected to each delay yet the case has lingered 

on for almost 2.5 years.  The court scheduling and government delays resulted in long unusual 

delays in this case. We request that Ms. Mooney be given time served due to her 11 day 

incarceration and a very limited time of probation.   Her pretrial probation has already limited 

her ability to work for 2.5 years.  Any additional probation will continue to limit her travel and 

work possibilities. She has had difficulty finding employment other than menial jobs. She 

currently has a full time job offer that would require out of the country travel.  

 

 

      Respectfully Submitted, 

 

/s/ George B. Bishop, Jr.                             

           GEORGE B. BISHOP, JR. 

         223 East Main Street 

      P. O. Box 848 

      Moncks Corner, South Carolina 

 

 

Dated:  June 3, 2016 
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Certificate of Service 

 

 I hereby certify that on this date I cause one true copy to the written document to be 

served in the above-captioned case, via the court’s e-noticing system, but if that means failed, 

then by regular mail, on all parties of record. 

 

/s/ George B. Bishop, Jr.    

         George B. Bishop, Jr. 
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